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CONSOLIDATED HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Directors' report
The directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 201 9.

31

Principal activities
The group's principal activity is the operation of a hotel and the holding of investments.

The parent company's principal activities, which are unchanged since last year, are that of holding
investments in various subsidiary undertakings.

Review of the business
The parent company

During the current financial year the company received gross dividends amounting to €300,000 and €1.8

million from its subsidiary and associate respectively (2018: just €1 .8 million) from ihe associate.

During the year, the company sold its shareholding in Kemmuna Limited fora gain of €10.2 million. ln the
group's financial statements the gain from this disposal amount to €12.1 million and has been presented
within 'share of profit associates'.
The Group

The Group's results are primarily influenced by the activities of the Waterfront Hotel. During 2019, the

hotel's revenue for the year increased by nearly 8% over 2018 results, closing the year with a total revenue
of €6,917,634, primarily due to the investment undertaken by the hotel in 2018 inthe refurbishment of 11

Suite rooms. The hotel achieved a gross profit of €3,065,975 for 2019 (2018: €2,918,861) whilst
administrative costs increased to €1,523,895 (2018: €1,221,136). Finance costs decreased primarily due
to accelerated repayments of group loans. After taking into consideration financing costs the hotel ended
the current financial year in a net profit position of €1,391,886 (2018: €1,494,579).

Following the refurbishment undertaken by the hotel in 2017 and 2018 no major capital expenditure was
undertaken during 2019 and property, plant and equipment decreased in value in line with depreciation for
theyear. During the yearthe hotel repaid €1,314,923 in loan principals for borrowing obtained from the
bank and related party forming part of Mizzi Organisation.
Outlook for 2020

With effect from March 2020 onwards, the outbreak of COVID-19 impacted negatively a number of
operations of companies within the Mizzi Organisation. Whilst some sectors and certain companies were
hit worse than others, Group management invested substantial efforts to safeguard as many jobs as
possible and ensure survival of all the respective companies within the Organisation. The hospitality
industry was brought to a standstill as a result of the airport closure and other measures introduced by
Government. The hotel lost all its principal source of income for a period of around 4 months. On a positive
note, the hotel managed to remain operative up to a certain extent, having been awarded contracts to
provide alternative accommodation to front liners assisting patients infected by the virus.
Allcompanies forming part of the Organisation embarked on a cost-cutting exercise in areas such as payroll
costs, direct departmental costs together with selling and administrative expenses. Particular emphasis has

also been placed on the credit control function so as to ensure cash receipts from customers and debtors
are flowing in regulady and in a sustained manner in order to meet cash outflows. Revised favourable credit
term arrangements were negotiated with a number of suppliers, though substantially no concessions were

granted to the Organisation by its property lessors.
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Directors' report - continued
On a group wide basis, the Mizzi Organisation took a number of initiatives to ensure effective management

of available liquidity to fund the requirements of all operations impacted by COVID-19. The Organisation
managed to secure favourable arrangements with banks in relation to the postponement of bank loan
repayments and with suppliers in relation to the postponement of major capital expenditure payments. A
number of Organisation companies have taken advantage of available Government aid, such as the deferral
of VAT and tax payments, wage supplement schemes and quarantine leave supplements. The Organisation
also encouraged utilisation of vacation leave to decrease accruals in this regard.
ln view of the current situation brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic, the Organisation has prepared
detailed financial and cash flow projections covering all its business lines for the financial years ended 31
December 2020 and 2021, based on historical financial information registered to date during 2020 and
fgrecasts, factorirrg in the disorder created by the COVID-19 pandemic. These projcctions have been
compiled as part of the preparation of a revised business plan. The projections are based on pessimistic
assumptions for the base case scenario, reflecting the anticipated dismal performance during 2020 of
specific Organisation business lines referred to above, with a gradual recovery in performance for the
automotive, hotel, retail and catering businesses throughout 2021. The projected 2021 financial results for
the core businesses within the Organisation are assumed to be significantly lower when compared to 2019
financial results. The projections also contemplate a stressed case scenario with sever business conditions
throughout 2021. The cash flow projections take into account the financial support secured by the
Organisation under the COVID-19 guarantee scheme managed by the Malta Development Bank. The
sanction letters in the name of Mizzi Organisation Limited for the secured additional facilities amounting to
€12 million in aggregate, have been approved and issued bythe respective banks. Thesefundswillassist
the Organisation in honouring committed capital expenditure and commitments with trade creditors.
The forecastlor 2020 contemplates the projected existence of a significant liquidity buffer at the end of the

year notwithstanding the expected adverse financial results, whilst positive cash flow generation

is

anticipated for 2021. The directors are further encouraged that as at the date of approval of these financial
statements, all the business units of the Group are back in business and fully operational within the
restrictions and guidelines issued by the Health Authorities. Furthermore, as business started to pick up
gradually during the recent months, it was noted that actual performance across all business segments has
been better than that forecasted within the 2020 projection.
stressed conditions are experienced throughout2021, such thatthe projected financial results
Assuming-automotive
business, the hotel, the retail and catering businesses are subdued in line with 2020
from the
performance, whilst simultaneously projected property sales do not materialise, the Organisation would still
be in a position to fund its group wide operations taking cognisance of liquidity available.

The Boards of Directors of Mizzi Organisation Limited and of the companies constituting the Mizzi
Organisation feel confident that with the measures taken, the secured financing arrangements and the
diversity of the Organisation's business lines, the companies within the Organisation shall overcome the
disruptions brought about by this pandemic. The directors consider the Organisation and all Organisation
companies to be a going concern. Hence the going concern assumption in the preparation of these financial
statements is considered appropriate and there are no material uncertainties which may cast significant
doubt about the ability of the Organisation and its companies to continue operating as a going concern.
Financial risk management

ln 2019, there has been no change in the Group's and parent company's financial risk management
objectives and policies, details of which, together with further information on the Group's and the parent
company's risk exposures can be found in Note 3 to the financial statements.

Results and dividends
The consolidated financial results are set out on page

1

1.

No dividends have been proposed or paid this

year. The directors propose that the balance of retained earnings amounting to €34,092,993 (2018:
€20,181,896) be carried forward to the next financial year.
2
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Directors' report

- continued

Directors
The directors of the parent company who held office during the year were
Maurice F. Mizzi
Brian R. Mizzi

lanMizzi
Kenneth C. Mizzi
Veronica Mizzi
Angele Calleja
Christopher Mizzi
The parent company's Articles of Association do not require any directors to retire

Statement of directors' responsibilities for the financial statements
The directors are required by the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386)to prepare financial statements which
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the parent company as at the end of each
reporting period and of the profit or loss for that period.

ln preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for:

o
o
o
o

ensuring that the financial statements have been drawn up in accordance with lnternational Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU;
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances;

ensuring that the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis unless it is
inappropriate to presume that the group and the parent company will continue in business as a going
concern.

The directors are also responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and that comply with the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386).
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group and the parent company and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The financial statements of Consolidated Holdings Limited for the year ended 31 December 2019 are
included in the Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements 2019, which is published in hardcopy printed form and made available on the MizziOrganisation website (www.mizziorganisation.com). The
directors of the entities constituting the Mizzi Organisation are responsible for the maintenance and integrity
of the Annual Report on the website in view of their responsibility for the controls over, and the security of,
the website. Access to information published on the Organisation's website is available in other countries
and jurisdictions, where legislation governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements
may differ from requirements or practice in Malta.
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Directors' report

- continued

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers have indicated their willingness to continue in office and a resolution for their reappointment will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.
On behalf of the board

17
Ma

ceF

Mizzi

office:
Mizzi Organisation Corporate Office
Testaferrata Street

Ta'Xbiex
Malta
28 October 2020
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Indep endent auditor's rep

ort

To the Shareholders of Consolidated Holdings Limited

Report on the audit of thefinancial statements

Our opinion
In our opinion:
a

a

Consolidated Holdings Limited's Group financial statements and parent company financial

statements (the "financial statements") give a true and fair view of the Group's and the parent
company's financial position as at 91 December zor9, and of the Group's and parent company's
financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRSs') as adopted by the EU; and
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Maltese
Companies Act (Cap. 386).

What we have audited
consolidated Holdings Limited's financial statements, set out on pages 9 to 63, comprise:

o
o
o
o
o

the consolidated and parent company statements of financial position as at 31 December zorg;
the consolidated and parent company statements of income and comprehensive income for the
year then ended;
the consolidated and parent company statements of changes in equity for the year then ended;
the consolidated and parent company statements of cash flows for the year then ended; and
the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basisfor opirion

We conducted our audit

in accordance with International

Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Audifo r's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our

opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants'Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with
the ethical requirements of the Accountancy Profession (Code of Ethics for Warrant HoldersJ Directive
issued in terms of the Accountancy Profession Act (Cap. z8r) that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in Malta. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these Codes.

Emphasis of matter
We draw attention to Note 3z in the financial statements, which describes the directors'assessment on the
implications that COVID-I9 had on the group and the company. This matter is considered to be of
fundamental importance to the understanding of the financial statements due to its nature and
significance. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

5

_3

pwc

Independent quditor's report - continued
To the Shareholders of Consolidated Holdings Limited

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors'
report (but does not include the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon).

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information, including the directors'
report.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other intbrmation is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

With respect to the directors' report, we also considered whether the directors' report includes the
disclosures required by Article r77 of the Maltese Companies Act (Cap' g86).
Based on the work we have performed, in our opinion:

o
r

The information given in the directors' report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
the directors' report has been prepared in accordance with the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 986).

In addition, in light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the parent company and its
environment obtiined in the course of the audit, we are required to report if we have identified material
misstatements in the directors' report and other information that we obtained prior to the date of this
auditor's report. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities o.f the directors and those charsed with gouernutce
statements

for

the

financial

The directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the requirements of the Maltese Companies Act (Cap.
386), and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's and the parent
company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis ofaccounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group on
the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the group's financial reporting process.
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Independent auditor's report - corttinued
To the Shareholders of Consolidated Holdings Limited

Auditor's responsibilitiesfor the audit of thefinancial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance

with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional

scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
o

a

a
o

a

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
ofinternal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the group and the parent company's internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
Conclude on the appropriateness ofthe directors' use ofthe going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's on the parent company's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, because not all future events or
conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the Group and the parent
company's ability to continue as a going concern. In particular, it is difficult to evaluate all of the
potential implications that COVID-I9 will have on the group's trade, customers, suppliers and the
disruption to its business and the overall economy.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.
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Independent auditor's report - continued
To the Shareholders of Consolidated Holdings Limited

and r eq ulatoru r eq uir ement s
Report on other
uhichwe
ore required to report by exception
Other matters on
We also have responsibilities under the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. g86) to report to you if, in our
opinion:
a

a
O

Adequate accounting records have not been kept, or that returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us.
'lhe financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.
We have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report to you in respect of these responsibilities

PricewaterhouseCoopers
78, Mill Street
Zone 5, Central Business District
Qormi
Malta

(*

).

Fabio Axisa

Parlner
z8 October zozo
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Statements of financial position
31

Group
At 31

At1

December

December

January

2019

2018
€

2018
€

At
Notes

€

Company

At31
December
2019
€€

At31
December
2018

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
lnvestments in subsidiaries
lnvestments in associates
Financial assets at FVOCI
Loans and advances

5

6
7
8
9
10

20,548,604
56,369

20,867,990

20,666,567

18,415,796
12,057

19,856,201
12,O57

20,799,346

713,352

713,352

713,352

12,057

7,133,992

7,048,031

2,985,984
12,057

4,256,568

713,352

713,352

12,057

39,746,178 41,449,600 42,191,322 10,845,385'12,030,008

Total non-current assets

Gurrent assets
lnventories
Trade and other receivables
Current tax assets
Cash and cash equivalents

11

12
13

106,800
16,632,664
81,819
4,909,469

114,948

7,128,300
20,790
1,083,379

191,126
7,352,666

13,031 ,488

13,471

3,217

833,441

4,092,392

4,755,798
8,201
148,459

Total current assets

21,730,751 8,347,417 8,390,704 17,117,097

4,912,458

Total assets

61,476,929 49,797,017 50,582,026 27,962,482

16,942,466
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Statements of financial position

- continued

31

Group
At 31

December

December

2019

2018

€

-e

January
2018
a
€

746,797
13,975,275
1,149,296
34,092,993

746,797
14,097,866
1,148,286
20,231,896

746,797
14,251,366
1,334,362
17,974,633

At
Notes

Atl

Company

At31
At31
December December
2018
2019
€€

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Revaluation reserves
Other reserves
Retained earnings

14
15
16

746,797
'l'13,592
25,874,498

49,963,351 36,224,845 34,307,158 26,734,887

Total equity

746,797
113,592
14,713,653
15,574,042

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities
Borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities

17
18
19

Total non-current liabilities

41 ,1 39

5,235,307

6,274,O47

7,126p42

1,995,112

1,929,460

1,510,959

7,161,558 8,203,507

8,637,001

15,608
2,48'1,575
1,854,837

3 643 307
3 994 560

Gurrent liabilities
Lease liabilities
I rade and other payables
Borrowings

17

20
18

3,259,'t33

2,109,532

192,2TT

1,035,318

1

354,594
,013,830

,867 1,227,595

1,368,424

Total liabilities

11,513,578 13,572,172 16,274,868 1,227,595

1,368,424

Total equity and liabilities

61,476,929 49,797,017 50,582,026 27,962,482

16,942,466

Total current liabilities

4,352,020 5,368,665

7

,637

The notes on pages 17 to 63 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
The financial statements on pages 9 to 63 were authorised for issue by the Board on 28 October 2020 and

were signed on its behalf by:

Ma

F. Mizzi

Director
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Income statements
Year ended 31 December

Group
Notes

Revenue
Cost of sales

21

22

Gross profit
Administrative expenses
Other operating income

22

income
Finance costs
Share of profit of associates

Profit for the year

€

€

6,936,605
(3,884,2621

6,437,296
(3,571,096)

3,052,343
(1,548,991)
59,262

2,866,200
(1,248,18e)

2018

€

(7,917)

(7,782)

1,637,746

(7,9171

(7,782)

1,387

'12,312,553

(210,225)
13,557,640

(297,597)
1,329,806

26

14,9'11,416
(1,129,4341

2,671,342
(377,992)

1,397

2019
€

19,735

24
25
8

Profit before tax
Tax expense

2018

1,562,614

Operating profiU(loss)
lnvestment and other related

Gompany

2019

(363)

12,304,273
(1,143,4281

13,781,982 2,293,350 11,160,945

1,786,356

(74,42e)

1,704,145
(6,678)
1,697,467

The notes on pages 17 to 63 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Statements of comprehensive income
Year ended 31 December

Gompany

Group
Notes

2019
€

2018

€

2019
€€

2018

13,781,982 2,293,350 11,160,845 1,697,467

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income:
Items that will not be reclassified to

profit or loss
Movement in deferred tax liability on
revalued land and buildings of
subsidiary determined on the
basis applicable to property disposals

19

Share of other comprehensive income
of associate:
Redemption of capitalised ground rents

16

Other comprehensive income for the
year, net of tax

Total comprehensive income
for the year

6,524

(24,385)

(232,836)

6,524

(257,221)

13,788,500 2,030,129 11,160,845

1,697,467

The notes on pages 17 to 63 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Statements of changes in equity
Group

Share

Note
Balance at 'l January 2018 - as
previously stated

Revaluation
reserves

capital
€€

Other
reserves
€

746,797 14,251,366 1,334,362

lmpact of changes in accounting policy
Transition adjustment upon adoption of
IFRS9 on 1 January 20'18
Balance

Retained
earnings
€

Total
€

17,974,633 34,307,158

(118,442)

746,797 14,251,366

at'l January 2018 - restated

(118,442)

1,334,362 (17,856,191) 34,183,716

Comprehensive income

2,293,350 2,293.350

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income:
Movement in deferred tax liability on
revalued land and buildings
determined on the basis
applicable to property disposals
Depreciation transfer, net of deferred tax
Share of other comprehensive income of
associate:
Share of transfer upon realisation
through asset use in respect of
revalued land and buildings of an
associate
Redemption of ground rents
capitalised in associate

15
15

15

(24,385)
(12,800)

12,800

16,315)

116,3'15

(1

(24,385)

(46,760)

(232,836)

(186,076) 82,355

(257 ,221)

(186,076)

Total other comprehensive income

(153,500)

Total comprehensive income

(153,500) (186,076) 2,375,705 2,036,129

Balance at 31 December 2018

746,797 14,097,866 1,148,286 20,231,896

36,224,845
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Statements of changes in equity

- continued

Group - continued

Share

Note

Revaluation
reserves

capital
EC
cc

Other
reseryes
€

Retained

earnings

Total

€

€

746,797 14,097,866 1,148,286 20,181,896

Balance at 1 January 2019

36,174,845

Comprehensive income

13,781,982 13,781,982

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income:
Movement in deferred tax liability on
revalued land and buildings
determined on the basis
applicable to property disposals
Depreciation transfer, net of deferred tax
Share of transfer upon realisation
through asset use in respect of
revalued land and buildings of an
associate

15
15

15

(1

16,315)

Total other comprehensive income

(122,591)

Total comprehensive income

(122,591)

Balance at 31 December 2019

6,524

6,524
(12,800)

12,800

1

16,315

129,115

6,524

,097

13,788,506

746,797 13,975,275 1,148,286 34,092,993

49,963,351

13,91

1
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Statements of changes in equity

- continued

Company
Share
capital
€
Balance at 1 January 2018

Other
reserye
€

746,797 113,592

Retained

earnings
€

Total
€

13,016,186 13,876,575

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year
- total comprehensive income

Balance at 31 December 2018

1,697,467 1,697,467

746,797 113,592

14,713,653 15,574,042

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year
- total comprehensive income

Balance at

3f December

2019

11,160,845 11,160,845

746,797 113,592 25,974,499 26,734,997

The notes on pages 17 to 63 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Statements of cash flows
Year ended 31 December
Company

Group
Notes

Gash flows from operating activities
Cash (used in)igenerated from operations
Dividends received
lnterest paid
Tax paid

28

Net cash (used in)/generated from

5

I

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing
activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from bank borrowings
Proceeds from borrowings from associate
Repayments of borrowings from related
parties forming part of Mizzi Organisation
Repayment of bank borrowings
Principal element of lease liabilities

2,985,092 (8,373,039)

1,387

2018

(234,149)

2,086,356

(311,524)

1,387

(363)

(74,42e)

(13,997) (1,138,4441

(11,143)

(1,148,5121 (1,714,011)

12,958,031

-

11,337,935

11,809,519 (1,714,011) 11,337,935

18
18
18

618,015
721,491

21,488

466,446

(1,310,001) 403,070 21,488

466,446

21,488
(579,198)
(735,7251

(62e,637)
(306,799)

(16,566)

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing

activities
Net movements in cash and

3,826,090 1,350,017 3,933,933

cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents
at end of year

€

(6,673,4281 2,660,958 (7,425,4901 (318,334)

operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for of property, plant and
equipment
Proceeds from disposal of associate

(7,277,5791
2,041,401
(208,964)
(1,228,2861

2019
€€

2018

2019
€

1,083,379 (266,638) 148,459

13

4,909,469 1,083,379 4,082,392

148,112

347

148,459

The notes on pages 17 to 63 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Notes to the financial statements

1.

Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless othenryise
stated.

1.1

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Consolidated Holdings
Limited and its subsidiary. These financial statements are prepared in accordance with lnternational
Financial Reporting Standards (lFRSs) as adopted by the EU and the requirements of the Maltese
Companies Act (Cap. 386). They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the fair valuation of the land and buildings category of property, plant and equipment,
and financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs as adopted by the EU requires the
use of certain accounting estimates. lt also requires the directors to exercise their judgement in the
process of applying the group's accounting policies (see Note 4 - Critical accounting estimates and
judgements).
Corporate

re

structu ri ng

During the current financial year, Consolidated Holdings Limited acquired the shares of Legacy
Contractors Limited, formerly a subsidiary of Mizzi Organisation Limited, a related party forming part
of Mizzi Organisation, for a consideration of €85,961 , as part of a corporate restructuring within the
Mizzi Organisation.
All the entities constituting the Mizzi Organisation are ultimately fully owned and controlled by the
same members of the Mizzi family. Accordingly, the transaction referred to above involve an entity
under common control, whereby the involved entity is controlled by the same parties before and after

the transaction, and that control is not transitory. The key feature of a transaction among entities
under common control is that there is no change in the ultimate ownership of the entities involved as
a result of the transaction. Control is exercised by a group of individuals that are all part of the same
close family group when they have the collective power to govern the financial and operating policies
of the respective entities which are involved in the transactions.

For the purposes of preparing these consolidated financial statements, Consolidated Holdings
Limited has applied the predecessor method of accounting to reflect the transaction referred to above
involving an entity under common control. Accordingly, Consolidated Holdings Limited:

a)
b)
c)
d)

recorded the disposal transactions as if they had already taken place at the beginning of the
earliest period presented within the financial statements, i.e. 1 January 2018;
eliminated the assets and liabilities attributable to the entities disposed of using predecessor
book values derived from the financial statements of the entities disposed of with the
elimination being already reflected at the beginning of the earliest period presented;
eliminated the financial results registered by the entities disposed of during the years ended
31 December2019 and 2018; and
reflected the difference between the consideration and the aggregate book value of the assets
and liabilities attributable to the entities disposed of as adjustments to equity.

17

CONSOLIDATED HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2019

1.

Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.1

Basis of preparation - continued

The impacts of the application of the predecessor accounting treatment described highlighted above
on the consolidated financial position of Consolidated Holdings Limited are reflected in the table
below:

lnventories
Trade and other receivables
Current tax assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other payables

31 December

1 January

2018
€

2018

46,486

99,748
212,255

58,079

€

12,589
204,345
(278,002)

(304,518)

Net assets

43,497

157,293

Represented by:
Retained earnings

43,497

157,293

9,735

140,073

The effects of the application of the predecessor accounting treatment highlighted above on the
consolidated financial results for the year ended 31 December 2018 are reflected in the table below:
31 December
2018

€
Revenue
Cost of sales

23,207
(75,868)

Gross profit

(52,661)

Selling and other direct expenses

Administrative expenses

(7,174)
(12,0e7)

Operating loss

(71,932)

Finance costs

(186)

Loss before tax
Taxation

(72,118)
22,802

Loss for the year

(49,316)

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2019

ln 2019, the group adopted new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards
that are mandatory for the Group's accounting period beginning on 1 January 2019. The adoption of
these revisions to the requirements of IFRSs as adopted by the EU resulted in changes to the Group's
accounting policies impacting the Group's frnancial performance and position. The Group had to
change its accounting policies and make retrospective adjustments as a result of adopting IFRS 16,
'Leases', but recognised the cumulative effect of initially applying the new standard on 1 January
2019. The new accounting policies are disclosed in Note 1.18 below. The impact of the adoption of
this standard is disclosed in Note 2. The other standards did not have any impact on the Group's
accounting policies.
18
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1.

Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.1

Basis of preparation - continued

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective

Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published
by the date of authorisation for issue of these financial statements but are mandatory for the Group's

accounting periods beginning after 1 January 2019. The Group has not early adopted these revisions
to the requirements of IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the Group's directors are of the opinion that

there are no requirements that will have a possible significant impact on the Group's financial
statements in the period of initial application.

1.2
(a)

Consolidation
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group. They
are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.
The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred. ldentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the acquiree's net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. lf this is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference
is recognised directly in profit or loss.
lnter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
ln the company's separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for by the
cost method of accounting, i.e. at cost less impairment. Provisions are recorded where, in the opinion
of the directors, there is an impairment in value. Where there has been an impairment in the value

of an investment, it is recognised as an expense in the period in which the diminution is identified.
The results of subsidiaries are reflected in the company's separate financial statements only to the
extent of dividends receivable. On disposal of an investment, the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount is charged or credited to profit or loss.

(b)

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. ln the consolidated

financial statements, investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The Group's investment in associates includes
goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment losses.
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1.

Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.2
(b)

Consolidation - continued
Associates - continued

The Group's share of its associates' post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in profit or loss,
and its share of post-acquisition other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive
income. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the
associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
Unrealised galns on transactions between the Group and its associates are elirrrirrated to the extetrt
of the Group's interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction

provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
ln the company's separate financial statements, investments in associates are accounted for by the
cost method of accounting, i.e. at cost less impairment. Provisions are recorded where, in the opinion
of the directors, there is an impairment in value. Where there has been an impairment in the value
of an investment, it is recognised as an expense in the period in which the diminution is identified.
The results of associates are reflected in the company's separate financial statements only to the
extent of dividends receivable. On disposal of an investment, the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount is charged or credited to profit or loss.

1.3
(a)

Foreign currencies
Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates ('the functional currency').
The consolidated financialstatements are presented in euro, which is the Group's functionalcurrency
and the Group's presentation currency.

(b)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

1.4

Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment is initially recorded at historical cost. Land and buildings are
subsequently shown at fair value, based on periodic valuations by professional valuers, less
subsequent depreciation for buildings. Valuations are carried out on a regular basis such that the
carrying amount of property does not differ materially from that which would be determined using fair
values at the end of the reporting period. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is
eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset, and the net amount is restated to the
revalued amount of the asset. All other property, plant and equipment is subsequently stated at
historical cost less depreciation and impairment Iosses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Borrowing costs which are incurred for the purpose
of acquiring or constructing a qualifying asset are capitalised as part of its cost. Borrowing costs are
capitalised while acquisition or construction is actively undenruay. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is
ceased once the asset is substantially complete and is suspended if the development of the asset is
suspended.
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1.

Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.4

Property, plant and equipment - continued

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow
to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.
lncreases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited to other
comprehensive income and shown as a revaluation reserve in shareholders'equity. Decreases that
offset previous increases of the same asset are charged in other comprehensive income and debited
against the revaluation reserve; all other decreases are charged to profit or loss. Each year the

difference between depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of the asset (the
depreciation charged to profit or loss) and depreciation based on the asset's original cost, net of any
related deferred income taxes, is transferred from the revaluation reserve to retained earnings.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost or revalued amounts of
the assets to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:
%
2

Buildings
Furniture, fittings and equipment
Operational equipment
Motor vehicles

10 - 33i/.
15 - 331/s
25

Freehold land is not depreciated as it is deemed to have an indefinite life.
No depreciation is charged on linen, crockery, cutlery, glassware, uniforms and hotel loose tools.
Normal replacements are charged to profit or loss.
The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

Property, plant and equipment

is reviewed for

impairment whenever events

or changes

in

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An asset's carrying amount
is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are Grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cashgenerating units). Property, plant and equipment that suffered an impairment is reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount and are recognised in profit or loss. When revalued assets are
disposed of, the amounts included in the revaluation reserve relating to the assets are transferred to
retained earnings.

1.5

lntangible assets

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group's share
of the net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary/associate at the date of acquisition. Goodwill

on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in 'lntangible assets'. Goodwill on acquisitions of
associates is included in 'lnvestments in associates'. Separately recognised goodwill is tested
annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. lmpairment losses
on goodwill are not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying
amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.
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1.

Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.5

Intangible assets - continued

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation
is made to those cash-generating units or Groups of cash-generating units that are expected to
benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose. A cash-generating unit to which

goodwill has been allocated shall be tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an
indication that the unit may be impaired by comparing the carrying amount of the unit, including the
goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the unit. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value
less costs to sell and value in use.

1.6

Financialassets

Classification
The Group classifies its frnancial assets in the following measurement categories:

-

those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive

-

income, or through profit or loss), and
those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity's business modelfor managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows. For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive income (OCl). For investments in equity

instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made an

irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).
The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those

assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

The Group recognises a financial asset in its statement of financial position when it becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on settlement date, the date on
which an asset is delivered to or by the Group. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership or has not retained control of the
asset.

Measurement
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at
FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest.
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1

Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.6

Financial assets - continued

(a) Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group's business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the Group may classify its debt instruments:

o

o

o

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost.
lnterest income from these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit
or loss. lmpairment losses are presented in the statement of profit or loss.
FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets' cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCl, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and
losses which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss.
lnterest income from these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. lmpairment losses are presented in the statement of profit or loss.
FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.

A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

in

(b) Equity instruments
The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Organisation's
management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in OCl, there
is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the

derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be recognised in profit
or loss when the Group's right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised in the income statement as
applicable. lmpairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments measured
at FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.

lmpairment
The Group assesses on a fonvard looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.
For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by
IFRS I, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables (see Note 3 for further details).
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1.

Summary of significant accounting policies - continued
1.7 lnventories
lnventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined by the firstin, first-out method. The cost of inventories comprises the invoiced value of goods and, in general,
includes transport and handling costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

1.8

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables comprise amounts due from customers for services performed in the ordinary
course of business. lf collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of
the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. lf not, they arc prcscnted as non-current
assets.
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less expected credit loss allowances.
Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless
they contain significant financing components, when they are recognised at fair value. The
Organisation holds the trade receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

1.9

Gash and cash equivalents

ln the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, depostts held at call
with banks and bank overdrafts. The bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities
in the statement of financial position.

1.10 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. lncremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares are shown in equity as a deduction, nct of tax, from thc procccds.

1.11 Financial liabilities
The Group recognises a financial liability in its statement of financial position when it becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The Group's financial liabilities are classified as
financial liabilities measured at amortised cost, i.e. not at fair value through profit or loss under IFRS
9. Financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss are recognised initially at fair value, being
the fair value of consideration received, net of transaction costs that are directly attributable to the

acquisition or the issue of the financial liability. These liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost. The Group derecognises a financial liability from its statement of financial position
when the obligation specified in the contract or arrangement is discharged, cancelled or expires.

1.12 Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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1.

Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.13 Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at the fair value of proceeds received, net of transaction costs
incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Borrowings are classified as current
liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
twelve months after the end of the reporting period.

1.14 Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

1.15 Current and deferred tax
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. ln this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.
Deferred tax is recognised in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between

the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.

However, deferred tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in
a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply
when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled.

The principal temporary differences arise from the fair valuation of land and buildings category of
property, plant and equipment, depreciation on property, plant and equipment and provisions for
impairment of trade and other receivables. Deferred tax on the fair valuation of property, plant and
equipment is charged or credited directly to the revaluation reserve. Deferred tax on the difference
between the actual depreciation on the asset and the equivalent depreciation based on the historical
cost of the asset is realised through profit or loss.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current

tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
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1.

Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.16 Revenue recognition
Revenues include all revenues from the ordinary business activities of the Group. Ordinary activities

do not only refer to the core business but also to other recurring sales of goods or rendering of
services. Revenues are recorded net of value added tax.

(a) Sale of goods and services
Revenues are recognised in accordance with the provision of goods or services, provided that
collectability of the consideration is probable.

IFRS 15 requires that at contract inception the goods or services promised in a corttract witlt a
customer are assessed and each promise to transfer to the customer the good or service is identified
as a performance obligation. Promises in a contract can be explicit or implicit if the promises creates
a valid expectation to provide a good or service based on the customary business practices,
published policies, or specific statements.

A contract asset must be recognised if an entity forming part of the Group recorded revenue for
fulfillment of a contractual performance obligation before the customer paid consideration or before
- irrespective of when payment is due - the requirements for billing and thus the recognition of a
receivable exist.

A contract liability must be recognised when the customer paid consideration or a receivable from
the customer is due before the Group fulfilled a contractual performance obligation and thus
recognised revenue.
Multiple-element arrangements involving the delivery or provision of multiple products or services
must be separated into distinct performance obligations, each with its own separate revenue
contribution that is recognised as revenue on fulfillment of the obligation to the customer. The total
transaction price of a bundled contract is allocated among the individual performance obligations
based on their relative - possibly estimated - standalone selling prices, i.e., based on a ratio of the
standalone selling price of each separate element to the aggregated standalone selling prices of the
contractual performance obligations.
Sales from goods and seruices

The services offered by the Group primarily relate to services within the hospitality activity. Revenue
from such services is recognised when the service is performed and/or when the goods (primarily
food and beverage relating to restaurant and bar sales) are supplied upon performance of the
service. Revenue is usually in cash, credit card or on credit.
Contracts

-

where revenue is recognlsed over time

When the outcome of a contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised only to
the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable; and contract costs are
recognised when incurred.
When the outcome of a contract can be estimated reliably and it is probable that the contract will be
profitable, contract revenue and contract costs are recognised over the period of the contract,
respectively, as revenue and expenses. When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total
contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.
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1.

Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.16 Revenue recognition

- continued

The Group uses the 'percentage of completion method' to determine the appropriate amount of
revenue and costs to recognise in a given period. The stage of completion is measured by reference
to the proportion of contract costs incurred for work performed up to the end of the reporting period
in relation to the estimated total costs for the contract. Costs incurred during the year that relate to
future activity on a contract are excluded from contract costs in determining the stage of completion
and are shown as contract work in progress within inventories.
The aggregate of the costs incurred and the profit or loss recognised on each contract is compared
against the progress billings up to the end of the reporting period. The Group presents as a contract
asset the gross amount due from customers for contract work for all contracts in progress for which
costs incurred plus recognised profits (less recognised losses) exceed progress billings, within trade
and other receivables. The Group presents as a contract liability the gross amount due to customers
for contract work for all contracts in progress for which progress billings exceed costs incurred plus
recognised profits (less recognised losses), within trade and other payables.

IFRS 15 provides more detailed guidance on howto accountforcontract modifications. Changes
must be accounted for either as a retrospective change (creating either a catch up or deferral of
previously recorded revenues), prospectively with a reallocation of revenues amongst identified
performance obligations, or prospectively as separate contracts which will not require any
reallocation.
Financing

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the
promised goods or services to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a
consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of money.

(b) lnterest income
lnterest income is recognised in profit or loss for all interest-bearing instruments as it accrues using
the effective interest method.

(c)

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

(d)

Other operating income is recognised on an accrual basis unless collectibility is in doubt

1.'|-7 Gustomer contract assets and liabilities
The timing of revenue recognition may differ from customer invoicing. Trade receivables presented
in the statement of financial position represent an unconditional right to receive consideration
(primarily cash), i.e. the services and goods promised to the customer have been transferred.

By contrast, contract assets mainly refer to amounts allocated per IFRS 15 as compensation for
goods or services provided to customers for which the right to collect payment is subject to providing
other services or goods under that same contract. Contract assets, like trade receivables, are subject
to impairment for credit risk. The recoverability of contract assets is also verified, especially to cover
the risk of impairment should the contract be interrupted.
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1.

Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.17 Customer contract assets and liabilities

- continued

Contract liabilities represent amounts paid by customers before receiving the goods and/or services
promised in the contract. This is typically the case for advances received from customers or amounts
invoiced and paid for goods or services not transferred yet (previously recognised in deferred
income).

1.18 Leases
A lease is an agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the lessee in return for a payment, or a series
of payment, the right to use an asset for an agreed period of time.
The Group undertaking ls fhe /essee

At inception of a contract, an entity shall assess whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
As explained in Note 1.1 above, the Group has changed its accounting policy for leases where the
Group is the lessee. The impact of the change is described in Note 2.
Until 31 December 2018, leases of assets in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership were effectively retained by the lessor were classified as operating leases. Payments
made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) were charged to profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the perlod of the lease.
With effect from 1 January 2019, leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease
liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments:
r flxed payments (lncludlng in-substance fixed payrrrerrts), less arry lease irrcerrtives receivable,
r variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index
or rate as at the commencement date;
r amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees;
. the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option;

o

and

palments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. lf that rate cannot be
readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee's incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.
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1.

Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.18 Operating leases - continued
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:
o where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received;
. uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases
held by the Group, where there is no third party financing; and
. makes adjustments specific to the lease, eg term, country, currency and security.
Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to
profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:
r the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;
. ahY lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives
received; and
. ahy initial direct costs.
Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease

term on a straight-line basis. lf the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset's useful life.
Payments associated with short-term leases and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of
12 months or less. ln determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances
that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination
option. Extension options (or periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if
the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated).

The lease term is reassessed if an option is actually exercised (or not exercised) or the Group
becomes obliged to exercise (or not exercise) it. The assessment of reasonable certainty is only
revised if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs, which affects this
assessment, and that is within the control of the lessee.

1.19 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs which are incurred for the purpose of acquiring or constructing qualifying property,
plant and equipment are capitalised as part of its cost. Borrowing costs are capitalised while
acquisition or construction is actively undenvay, during the period of time that is required to complete

and prepare the asset for its intended use. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is ceased once the
asset is substantially complete and is suspended if the development of the asset is suspended. All
other borrowing costs are expensed. Borrowing costs are recognised for all interest-bearing
instruments on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. lnterest costs include the effect
of amortising any difference between initial net proceeds and redemption value in respect of interest-

bearing borrowings.

1.20 Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Group's shareholders is recognised as

a liability in the financial

statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the shareholders.
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2.

Changes in accounting policies

This note explains the impact of the adoption of IFRS 16'Leases'on the Group's financial
statements.
As indicated in Note 1.1 above, the Group has adopted IFRS 16 retrospectively from 1 January 2019
but has not restated comparatives for the 2018 reporting period, as permitted under the specific
transitional provisions in the standard.
The reclassifications and the adjustments arising from the new leasing rules are therefore recognised
in the opening balance sheet on 1 January 2019. The new accounting policies are disclosed in Note
1.18.

(a) The Group's leasing activities
The Group leases motor vehicles from a related party forming part of Mizzi Organisation. Rental
contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 5 to 6 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements
do not impose any covenants. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
Extension and termination options are included in the majority of the Group's motor vehicles leases.
These terms are used to maximise operational flexibility in respect of managing contracts. The
majority of extension and termination options held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the
respective lessor. ln respect of the majority of lease arrangements, the extension periods have been
included in determining lease term for the respective arrangement.

(b) Adjustments recognised upon adoption of IFRS 16 in the statement of financial position on

1

January 2019

On adoption of IFRS 16, the Group recognised lease liabilities in relation to leases which had
previously been classified as "operating leases" under the principles of IAS 17 Leases. These
liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the

lessee's incremental borrowing rate as

of 1

January 2019. The weighted average lessee's

incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities on 1 January 2019 was 2%.

The associated right-of-use assets for leases were measured at the amount equal to the lease
liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to those leases
recognised in the balance sheet as at 31 December 20'18. There were no onerous lease contracts
that would have required an adjustment to the right-of-use assets at the date of initial application.
The change in accounting policy affected the following items in the balance sheet on 1 January 2019:

- right-of-use assets, increase by €72,052
- lease liabilities, increase by €72,052
The recognised right-of-use assets relate to motor vehicles:
As at
1 January

2019
€
Motor vehicles - Total right-of-use assets

72,052
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2

Changes in accounting policies - continued
Measurement of lease liabilities
As at
1 January

2019
c

c.

Operating lease commitments disclosed as at 31 December 2018
Add: adjustments as a result of different treatment of extensions
Discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application

(4,746)

Lease liabilities recognised as at 1 January 2019

72,052

11,347
65,451

Of which are classified as:

Current lease liabilities
Non-current lease liabilities

15,305
56,747

72,052
Practical expedients applied

ln applying IFRS 16 for the first time, the entities within the Group have has used the following
practical expedients permitted by the standard:
. the use of a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics;
o reliance on previous assessments on whether leases are onerous;
. the accounting for operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months as at 1
January 2019 as shortterm leases; and
. the use of hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contains options to extend
or terminate the lease.
(c) Amounts recognised in profit and loss

The income statement reflects the following amounts relating to leases:
2019

€
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assefs
Motor Vehicles
lnterest expense (included in finance costs)

15,683

1,261

Operating lease charges to be reflected within profit and loss, utilising the accounting principles of

IAS 17'Leases'had IFRS 16 not been adopted, during the period from 1 January 2019 to

31

December 2019 would have amounted to €16,566. Hence, EBITDA for the year ended 31 December
2019 has been impacted favourably by this amount in view of the adoption of the requirements of
IFRS 16.
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3.

Financial risk management

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities potentially expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including
currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management, covering risk exposures for all Group
undertakings, focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. The Group's board of directors provides
principles for overall Group risk management, as well as policies covering risks referred to above
and specific areas such as investment of excess liquidity. The Group did not make use of derivative
financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures during the current and preceding financial
years.

(a) Market

(i)

risk

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and
liabilities which are denominated in a currency that is not the respective entity's functional currency.
The Group's revenues, purchases and other expenditure, financial assets and liabilities, including
financing, are mainly denominated in euro. Accordingly, the Group is not significantly exposed to
foreign exchange risk and a sensitivity analysis for foreign exchange risk disclosing how profit or loss
and equity would have been affected by changes in foreign exchange rates that were reasonably
possible at the end of the reporting period is not deemed necessary.

(ii)

Cash tlow and farr value interest rate risk

The Group's significant instruments which are subject to fixed interest rates comprise loans and
receivables to a related party (Note 10), together with borrowings from a related party forming part
of Mizzi Organisation and an associate (Note 18). With respect to these instruments, the Group is
potentially exposed to fair value interest rate risk in view of the fixed interest nature of these
instruments, which are however measured at amortised cost.
The Group's interest rate risk principally arises from bank borrowings (Note 18), and balances with
related parties (Note 31), subject to floating interest rates, which expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk. Management monitors the impact of changes in market interest rates on amounts
reported in profit or loss in respect of these instruments. Based on this analysis, management
considers the potential impact on profit or loss of a defined interest rate shift that is reasonably
possible at the end of the reporting period to be immaterial and accordingly the level of interest rate
risk is contained. The Group's operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates.

(iii)

Price risk

The Group is not significantly exposed to equity price risk in view of the fact that the financial assets
at FVOCI held by the Group are not material.
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3.

Financial risk management - continued

3.1 Financial risk factors - continued

(b) Credit risk
Credit risk arises mainly from cash and cash equivalents, advances to related parties and credit
exposures to customers, including outstanding debtors and committed transactions. The Group's
exposures to credit risk at the end of the reporting period are analysed as follows:
Group
2019
€
Financial assets measured at amortised cost:
Loans and advances (Note 10)
Trade and other receivables (Note 12)
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 13)

713,352
16,533,137
4,909,469

Company

2018
€

2019
€€

713,352 713,352
6,942,866 13,031,489
1,083,379 4,082,392

2018

713,352
4,755,798
148,459

22,155,958 8,739,597',17,927,232 5,617,609
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in respect of the financial
assets mentioned above is equivalent to their carrying amount as disclosed in the respective notes
to the financial statements. The Group does not hold any significant collateral as security in this
respect.

Cash and cash equivalents
The Group principally banks with local financial institutions with high-quality standing or rating. While
cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the identified
expected credit loss is insignificant.
Trade and other receivables (includinq contract assets)

The Group assesses the credit quality of its customers taking into account financial position, past
experience and other factors. lt has policies in place to ensure that sales of services are effected to
customers with an appropriate credit history. The Group monitors the performance of its trade and
other receivables on a regular basis to identify incurred collection losses, which are inherent in the
Group's debtors, taking into account historical experience in collection of accounts receivable.

ln view of the nature of the Group's activities and the market in which it operates, a limited number
of customers account for a certain percentage of the Group's trade and other receivables. Whilst no
individual customer or group of dependent customers is considered by management as a significant
concentration of credit risk with respect to contractual debts, these exposures are monitored and
reported more frequently and rigorously. These customers trade frequently with the Group and are
deemed by management to have positive credit standing, usually taking cognisance of the
performance history without defaults.

The Group manages credit limits and exposures actively in a practicable manner such that there are
no significant past due amounts receivable from customers at the end of the reporting period. The
Group's trade and other receivables, which are not credit impaired financial assets, are principally
debts in respect of transactions with customers for whom there is no recent history of default.
Management does not expect any losses from non-performance by these customers.
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3.

Financial risk management - continued

3.1
(b)

Financial risk factors - continued
Credit risk - continued

lmpairment of trade receivables (including contract assefs)
The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses
a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. Contract assets have substantially

the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the same types of contracts. The Group
has therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable
approximation of the loss rates for contract assets.
The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of time before the
reporting date and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period. The

historical loss rates are adjusted

to

reflect current and forward-looking information

on

macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. The Group
adjusts the historical loss rates based on expected changes in these factors. Credit loss allowances
include specific provisions against credit impaired individual exposures with the amount of the
provisions being equivalent to the balances attributable to credit impaired receivables. On that basis,
the loss allowance for the Group as at 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2019 (upon adoption of
IFRS 9) was determined as follows:
31 Decenrber 2019

Up to 30

days
past due

31 to 00 days
past due

01 to 90

days
past due

91 to 120
days past
due

r

121 deys
past due

Totol

0.2% - 1.6%

1.9To

2.1%

2.6%

70,779

78,426

46,964

3.3% - 100Yo
243,631

641 ,315

Loss allowance (€)

201,515
1,792

'1,269

1,647

1,221

176,502

182,431

31 December2018

Up to 30

to 60 days
past due

61 to 90
days
past due

91 to 120
days past
due

+121 days
past due

Total

0.2% - 1.6%

1.9Yo

2.1To

2.6%

318,260

148,248

140,507

63,245

386,420

1,056,680

3,624

2,817

2,951

1,644

129,532

140,568

Expected loss rate
Gross carrying amount (€)

days
past due
Expected loss rate
Gross carrying amount (€)
Loss allowance (€)

J

3.3o/r

-

1000

The expected loss rates disclosed in the tables above reflect the fact that the 100% loss rate is
triggered for receivables which are primarily past due by 780 days or more.
The Group established an allowance for impairment that represented its estimate of expected credit
losses in respect of trade receivables. The individually credit impaired trade receivables mainly relate
to a number of independent customers which are in unexpectedly difficult economic situations and
which are accordingly not meeting repayment obligations. Hence, credit loss allowances in respect
of credit impaired balances with corporate trade customers relate to entities which are in adverse
trading and operational circumstances. Reversals of credit loss allowances of credit impaired
receivables arise in those situations where customers recover from unfavourable circumstances and
accordingly start meeting repayment obligations. The Group does not hold any significant collateral
as security in respect of the credit impaired assets. The movements in credit loss allowances of these
receivables are disclosed in Note 22.
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3.

Financial risk management - continued

3.1
(b)

Financial risk factors - continued
Credit risk - continued

Trade receivables and contract assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. lndicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the
failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a failure to make contractual
payments for a period of greater than a year past due. Credit losses on trade receivables and contract
assets are presented as net expected credit losses and other impairment charges within operating
profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts written off are credited against the same line item.
Ageing analysis of trade receivables
Categorisation of receivables as past due is determined by the Group on the basis of the nature of

the credit terms in place and credit arrangements actually utilised in managing exposures with

customers. At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group's past due but not impaired receivables and
the carrying amount of trade receivables that would otheruyise be past due or credit impaired whose
terms have been renegotiated, were not deemed material in the context of the Group's trade
receivables figures.
Amounts owed bv related parties

The Group's receivables include amounts due from related parties, primarily from related parties
forming part of Mizzi Organisation and other related parties (Note 12) arising from financing
transactions that have taken place in the current and prior years. The Mizzi Organization's treasury
monitors intra-Group credit exposures at an individual entity level on a regular basis and ensures
timely performance of these assets in the context of overall Group liquidity management. The Group
assesses the credit quality of these related parties taking into account financial position, performance
and other factors. The Group takes cognisance of the related party relationship with these entities
and management does not expect any significant losses from non-performance or default.
Since these balances owed by related parties are repayable on demand, expected credit losses are

based on the assumption that repayment of the balance is demanded at the reporting date.
Accordingly, the expected credit loss allowance attributable to such balances is insignificant.

(c)

Liquidity risk

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in relation to meeting future obligations associated with its
financial liabilities, which comprise lease liabilities (Note 17), borrowings (Note 18) and trade and
other payables (Note 20). Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash
and committed credit lines to ensure the availability of an adequate amount of funding to meet the
Group's obligations.
Management monitors liquidity risk by reviewing expected cash flows, and ensures that no additional

financing facilities are expected to be required over the coming year. This is also performed at a
central treasury function which controls the overall liquidity requirements of Mizzi Organisation within
certain parameters. The monitoring process considers the fact that the Group has significant amounts
payable to related parties in respect of property and financing transactions that have taken place in
prior years. The Group's liquidity risk is actively managed taking cognisance of the matching of cash
inflows and outflows arising from expected maturities of financial instruments, together with the
Group's committed bank borrowing facilities and other intra-organisation financing that it can access
to meet liquidity needs. ln this respect management does not consider liquidity risk to the Group as
significant taking into account the liquidity management process referred to above.
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3.

Financial risk management - continued

3.1
(c)

Financial risk factors - continued
Liquidity risk - continued

The tables below analyse the Group's and the parent company's principal financial liabilities into
relevant maturity Groupings based on the remaining term at the end of the reporting period to the
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash
flows. Balances due within twelve months equal their carrying balances, as the impact of discounting
is not significant.

Less
1

Over
than Between 1 Between 2
year and 2 years and 5 years 5 years
€€€€€

Total

Group

At 31 December 2019
Lease liabilities
Bank borrowings
Loans from associate
Loans from related party
forming part of the Mizzi
Organisation
Trade and other payables

16,566

553,200
1,035,318

385,134

27,241

1,659,600 3,454,123-

58,987
6,220,123
1,035,318

509,177

124,043

2,459,682

2,459,692

At 31 December2018
Bank borrowings
Loans from associate
Loans from related party
forming part of the Mizzi
Organisation
Trade and other payables

15,180
553,200

853,200
1,013,830

553,200

388,688
3,309,133

383,462

1,659,600 4,007,325

7,073,325
1,013,830

1,137 ,577

365,427

3,309,133

Less than
1

year

Total

2

c.

€

1,035,318

1,035,318
192,277

Company

At 31 December 2019
Loans from associate
Trade and other payables

192,277

At31 December2018
Loans from associate
Trade and other payables

1,013,830
354,594

1

,013,830
354,594

36

CONSOLIDATED HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2019
3

Financial risk management - continued

3.2

Capital risk management

The Group's capital is managed at the level of Mizzi Organisation by reference to the aggregate level
of equity and borrowings or debt as disclosed in the respective consolidated financial statements of
Consolidated Holdings Limited and Mizzi Organisation Limited, together with the financial statements
of GSD Marketing Limited and The General Soft Drinks Company Limited. The capital of the entities

forming part of the Mizzi Organisation, which have been mentioned above, is managed on an
aggregate basis by the Organisation as if they were organised as one entity. The Organisation's

objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. ln order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may issue new shares or adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders.

The Organisation also monitors the level of capital on the basis of the ratio of aggregated net debt
to total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (as shown in the respective consolidated
statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as equity,
as shown in the respective statement of financial position, plus net debt. The aggregated figures in
respect of the Organisation's equity and borrowings are reflected below:
20'19

2018

€

€

Total borrowings
Less: cash and cash equivalents

96,867,144
101,977,405
(12,482,0581
(5,553,846)

Net debt

Totalequity

84,385,086
162,555,885

Totalcapital

246,940,971 244,299,676

Net debVtotal capital

34%

96,423,559
147,876,117

39o/o

The Organisation manages the relationship between equity injections and borrowings, being the
constituent elements of capital as reflected above, with a view to managing the cost of capital. The
level of capital of Consolidated Holdings Limited, as reflected in the consolidated statement of
financial position, is maintained by reference to its respective financial obligations and commitments
arising from operational requirements. ln view of the nature of the Group's activities and the extent
of borrowings or debt, the capital level at the end of the reporting period determined by reference to
the consolidated financial statements is deemed adequate by the directors.
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3.

Financial risk management - continued

3.3

Fair values of financial instruments

At 31 December 2019 and 2018 the carrying amounts of cash at bank, receivables, payables,
accrued expenses and short-term borrowings reflected in the financial statements are reasonable
estimates of fair value in view of the nature of these instruments or the relatively short period of time
between the origination of the instruments and their expected realisation. The fair value of advances

to related parties and other balances with related parties which are repayable on demand

is

equivalent to their carrying amount.
The fair value of non-current financial instruments for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting
the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for

similar financial instruments. Tlre fair value of tlre Group's non-current borrowings at the end of the
reporting periods is not significantly different from the carrying amounts. The carrying amounts of the
other financial liabilities as at 31 December 2019, comprising lease liabilities, are reasonable
estimates of their fair value as there have not been significant changes in the Group's internal
borrowing rate since the date of transition to IFRS 16. The current market interest rates utilised for
discounting purposes, which were almost equivalent to the respective instruments' contractual

interest rates, are deemed observable and accordingly these fair value estimates have been

categorised as level 2 within the fairvalue measurement hierarchy required by IFRS 7,'Financial
lnstruments: Disclosure'.

4.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and other
factors including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

ln the opinion of the directors, the accounting estimates and judgements made in the course of
preparing these financial statements are not difficult, subjective or complex to a degree which would
warrant their description as critical in terms of the requirements of IAS 1.

As referred to in Note 5 to the financial statements, the Group's land and buildings category of
property, plant and equipment are fair valued on the basis of professional advice.
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Property, plant and equipment
Group
Land and
Buildings
E

Furniture,
fittings and
equipment
E
E

Operational
equipment
?
€

Motor Assets under

vehicles

€€

construction

Total

€

At

1 January 2018
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation

17,393,519
(2,283,923)

Net book amount

15,109,596 1,370,213

3,489,287

5,625 691,846

15,109,596 1,370,213

3,489,287

5,625

2,239,161
(868,e48)

3,821,443

53,451

(332,1 56)

(47,826)

691,846

-

24,199,420
(3,532,853)
20,666,567

Year ended 31

December 20'18
Opening net book amount
Additions
Reclassifications
Depreciation charge
Closing net book

382,433
(207,710)

604,064

459,937

(241,236)

(383,698)

amount 15,284,319 1,733,041

3,565,526

691,846
1,035,942

20,666,567
1,035,942

(1,446,434_)

(1,875)

(834,51s)

3,750 281,354 20,867,990

At 31 December 2018

281,354

Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation

17,775,952
(2,491,633)

Net book amount

15,284,319 1,733,041

3,565,526

3,750 281,354 20,867,990

Year ended 31
December 2019
Opening net book amount
Additions
Reclassifications
Depreciation charge

15,284,319
76,290

1,733,041

3,565,526

3,750

294,166

78,741
12,683

Closing net book

(210,266)

2,843,225

(1,110,184)

118,786
(332,813)

amount 15,150,343 1,813,180

4,281,380
(715,854)

(416,774)
3,240,,176

53,451

(4e,701)

-

281,354
193,145
(131,46e)

(1,875)

25,235,362
(4,367,372)

20,867,990
642,342

(e61,728)

't,875 343,030 20,548,604

At31 December2Ol9
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation

17,852,242
(2,701,899)

Net book amount

15,'150,343 1,813,190

3,256,177

(1,442,997)

4,372,804
(1,132,628)
3,240,176

53,451

(51,576)

343,030

-

1,875 343,030

25,877,704
(5,329,100)
20,549,604
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5.

Property, plant and equipment - continued
Fair valuation of property

The Group's land and buildings, within property, plant and equipment were last revalued on

31

December 2014 by independent professionally qualified valuers. The book value of the property had
been adjusted to the revaluation and the resultant surplus, net of applicable deferred income taxes,
had been credited to the revaluation reserve in shareholders'equity (Note 14).
The directors have reviewed the carrying amount of the property as at 31 December 2019, on the
basis of assessments carried out by the independent professionally qualified valuers. No adjustments
to the carrying amounts as at 31 December 2019 were deemed necessary.
Valuations were made on the basis of open market value taking cognisance of the specific location
of the property, the size of the site together with its development potential, the availability of similar
properties in the area, and whenever possible, having regard to recent market transactions for similar
properties in the same location.
The Group is required to analyse non-financial assets carried at fair value by level of the fair value
hierarchy within which the recurring fair value measurements are categorised in their entirety (Level
1, 2 or 3). The different levels of the fair value hierarchy have been defined as fair value
measurements using:

.
.

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets (Level 1);
lnputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2);
lnputs for the asset that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (Level 3).

.

The Group's land and buildings, consists of operational property that is owned and managed by a
Group undertaking. The recurring property fair value measurements at the end of each financial
period presented use significant unobservable inputs and are accordingly categorised within Level 3
of the fair valuation hierarchy.

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the
beginning of the reporting period. There were no transfers between different levels of the fair value
hierarchy during the current and preceding financial years.

A reconciliation from the opening balance to the closing balance of property for recurring fair value
measurements categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, for the current and preceding
financialyears, is reflected in the table above.
Valuation processes
The valuation of the property is performed regularly on the basis of valuation reports prepared by
third party qualified valuers. These reports are based on both:

o

information provided by the Group which is derived from the Group undertaking's financial
systems and is subject to the entity's overall control environment; and

a

assumptions and valuation models used by the valuers; with assumptions being typically
market related and based on professionaljudgement and market observation.
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5.

Property, plant and equipment - continued
The information provided to the valuers, together with the assumptions and the valuation models used

by the valuers, are reviewed by designated officers within the Mizzi Organisation. This includes a
review of fair value movements over the period. When the designated officers consider that the
valuation report is appropriate, the valuation report is recommended to the Group undertaking's Board
of directors. The Board then considers the valuation report as part of its overall responsibilities.
At the end of every reporting period, the designated officers assess whether any significant changes
or developments have been experienced since the last external valuation. This analysis is usually
supported by an assessment performed by the third party property valuers. The officers report to the
Board on the outcome of this assessment.
Valuation techniques

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the valuation assessments were performed using a discounted
cash flow approach. Throughout this process, the highest and best use of the property has been
revised taking cognisance of the outcome of the valuation method applied.
In view of a limited number of similar or comparable properties and property transactions, comprising
sales or rentals, in the local market, the valuations have been performed using unobservable inputs.
The significant inputs to the approaches used are generally those described below:

Discounted cash flow ("DCF") approach: considers the free cash flows arising from the projected
income streams expected to be derived from the operation of the property, discounted to present
value using an estimate of the weighted average cost of capital that would be available to finance
such an operation. The significant unobservable inputs utilised with this technique include:
Earnings before interest, tax, based on projected income streams less operating expenditure
depreciation and amortisation necessary to operate the hotel, but prior to depreciation and
(EBITDA)
financing charges;
Growth rate

based on management's estimated average growth of the Group's
EBITDA levels, mainly determined by projected growth in income
streams;

Discount rate

reflecting the current market assessment of the uncertainty in the
amount and timing of projected cash flows. The discount rate
reflects the estimated weighted average cost of capital that would
be available for financing such an operation. The discount rate is
based on an assumed debt to equity ratio; estimation of cost of
equity is based on risk free interest rates adjusted for country risk
and equity risk premium adjusted for entity-specific risk factor;
estimation of cost of debt is based on risk free interest rates
adjusted for country risk and assumed credit spread.
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5.

Property, plant and equipment - continued
lnformation about fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3), as at
December 2019 and 2018:
Description by class based on
highest and best use

Valuation

Significant

technique

unobservable

Range of
unobservable
lnputs (weighted
average)

input

DCF

Current use as commercial
premises (hotel operations)

31

EBITDA

€4,000,000

Growth rate
Discount rate
Perpetuity yield

2% per annum
7.45% (pusL-tax)

approach

6To

ln relation to the DCF approach, an increase in the projected levels of EBITDA and growth rate would
result in an increased fair value of the property, whereas a higher discount rate would give rise to a
lower fair value.

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the directors considered the current use of the property to be
equivalent to the highest and best use.
lf the land and buildings were stated on the historical cost basis, the amounts would be as follows:

2019
€€

12,090,853 12,014,563
(2,563,837) (2,373,264)

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

9,527,016

Net book amount

Bank borrowings in the name

2018

9,641,299

of Group undertakings and related parties forming part of

Mizzi

Organisation are secured on the Group's land and buildings (see Notes 18 and 31).

6.

Right-of-use assets
The statement of financial position reflects the following assets relating to leases
1 January

2019

2019

€
Motor vehicles - Total right-of-use assets

As at

As at 31
December

56,369

E
c

72,052

The only movement in the carrying amount of right-of-use assets during the year is attributable to
depreciation charge amounting to €15,683.
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lnvestments in subsidiaries
Company
2019
€

2018
€

Year ended 31 December
Opening cost and carrying amount
Additions

7,048,031

Closing cost and carrying amount

7,133,992

7,048,031

85,961

7,049,031

The subsidiaries at the end of the financial reporting periods, whose results and financial position
affected the figures of the Group, are shown below:
Registered
office

Class of
shares held

Percentage of
shares held

2019

2018

Yo%

The Waterfront Hotel
Limited

Mizzi Organisation
Corporate Office
Testaferrata Street

Ta'Xbiex

Ordinary shares
5% Non-cumulative
redeemable
preference shares

100

100

100

100

Ordinary shares

100

Malta
Legacy Contractors
Limited

18 Hedera

Triq ld-Dawwara
Attard
Malta

During 2019, the company acquired the shares

of

Legacy Contractors Limited from Mizzi

Organisation Limited, a related party forming part of Mizzi Organisation (refer to Note

8.

1.1 .

for details).

lnvestments in associates
Group
2019
€

2018
€

Year ended 31 December
Opening carrying amount
Share of profit
Disposal
Redemption of capitalised ground rents
Dividends received

19,856,201 20,799,346

Closing carrying amount

18,415,796 19,956,201

1

,431

,035

1

,329,705

(831,4261

-

(2,040,01

4)

(232,836)
(2,040,01 4)
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8.

lnvestments in associates - continued
2019
€

2018
€

Cost
Share of profits and reserves

651,426
17,764,370

1,482,751
18,373,450

Carrying amount

18,415,796 19,856,201

At 31 December

The Group's share of profit of the associate, disclosed in the tables above and in profit or loss, is
after tax and non-controlling interests in the associate.

The associates at the end of the financial reporting periods, whose results and financial position
affected the figures of the Group, are shown below:
Class of
shares held

Registered
office

Percentage of
shares held

2019
o/o

2018
%

Mizzi Associated Enterprises
Limited

30 Archbishop Street
Valletta
Malta

Ordinary shares

51

51

Mellieha Bay Hotel Limited

Mellieha Bay Hotel
Marfa Road, Ghadira
Malta

Ordinary shares

51

51

Kemmuna Limited

Nineteen Twenty
Valletta Road,
Marsa
Malta

Three,

Ordinary shares

24

The proportion of the voting power held in Mizzi Associated Enterprises Limited and Mellieha Bay
Hotel is 50%. The shareholding in Mizzi Associated Enterprises Limited and Mellieha Bay Hotel
Limited is held directly by Consolidated Holdings Limited (51o/o) and Alf. Mizzi & Sons Limited (49%).
Neither of these shareholders is in a position to exercise a dominant influence on the company as
they are only entitled under the company's Memorandum and Articles of Association to elect two
directors each.
During the current financial year, the Group sold its shareholding in Kemmuna Limited. As a result,
the carrying amount of the investment in the associate has been derecognised from the Group's
financial statements upon disposal. The resultant gain of €12,126,605 has been recognised in profit
or loss and presented within 'Share of profit of associates'. ln the company's stand-alone financial
statements the related gain of €10,226,197 has been presented within'lnvestment and other related
income'.
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L

lnvestments in associates - continued
Disclosure requirements emanating from IFRS 12 'Disclosure of interests in other entities'.
Mizzi Associated Enterprises Limited's principal activity is the ownership and the development of
property for trading and rental purposes. The principal activity of Mellieha Bay Hotel Limited and
Kemmuna Limited is the ownership and operation of the Mellieha Bay Hotel and the Comino Hotel
respectively. The associates' principal places of business are based in Malta.

The above investments provide strategic partnerships for the Group providing economies of scale
and depth within business sectors which are targeted by the Group for diversification or consolidation

purposes.

The investments in these associates, which are an unlisted private companies, is measured using

the equity method in accordance with the Group's accounting policy. Summarised financial
information for the associates are set out below:

Summarised balance sheets
Mellieha Bay Hotel
Limited

2019
€€

Kemmuna
Limited

2018

2018
c

c.

ASSETS

Non-current assets

33,345,008 34,093,378

6,302,246

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Other current assets

2,455,919
1,734,521

Total current assets

4,190,340 3,722,478

1,359,226

37,535,348 37,815,856

7,661,472

Totalassets

2,312,174
1,410,304

883,076
476,150

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities

3,834,934

3,877

Trade and other payables
Other financial liabilities
Other liabilities

1,352,965
56,336

1,826,987

Total current liabilities

1,409,201 2,178,398

Total liabilities

5,244,135 6,055,632

1,260,553

32,291,213 31,760,224

6,400,919

Other liabilities

,234

549,819

Current liabilities

Net assets

386,000
324,734

351,411
710,734
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8.

lnvestments in associates - continued
Summarised balance sheet

MizziAssociated
Enterprises Limited
Consolidated financial
statements
2018

2019
€€

ASSETS

Non-current assets

1,846,399

1

,848,898

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Other current assets

3,541

8,275

2,605,149

3,373,516

Total current assets

2,608,690

3,381,791

Total assets

4,455,089

5,230,689

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Othcr financial liabilitics
Other liabilities

779,486
314
439,536

204,934
3,274
317,874

Total current liabilities

1,219,336

526,082

Total liabilities

1,219,336

526,082

Net assets

3,235,753

4,704,607

The Group's respective share of the net assets reflected in the above disclosure is in substance
equivalent to the carrying amount of its investment in the associates except as outlined below. The
Group's share of the net assets of MAE, Mellieha Bay Hotel Limited and Kemmuna Limited extracted

from the respective financial statements, does not reflect the Group's carrying amount of the
investments in the respective entities. The difference arises as a result of fair value adjustments
made at the time that MAE acquired Mellieha Bay Hotel Limited and Kemmuna Limited in prior years.

Furthermore, there are no significant contingent liabilities relating to the Group's interest in the
associates.
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I

lnvestments in associates - continued
Summarised statements of comprehensive income
Mellieha Bay Hotel
Limited

2019
€€

Revenue
Depreciation
lnterest expense
Profit/(loss) before tax
Tax expense

Total comprehensive income - ProfiV(loss)
for the year

Kemmuna

Limited
2018

2018

c

c.

8,338,292 9,535,646
(1,747,5231
(187)
915,700
(384,713)

2,257,712

(1,768,37e)
(54,e72)

(184,3e7)
(14,944)

1,020,551

(213,5s4)

(599,961)

530,987 420,590

(213,534)

MizziAssociated
Enterprises Limited
Consolidated financial
statements

2019
C€

Revenue

2018

3,089,109

2,007,979

Depreciation
lnterest income
lnterest expense

(1,498)
(1,2251

(1,4e8)
148,700
(1,600)

Profit before tax
Tax expense

2,986,753
(454,607)

2,568,874
(418,741)

Total comprehensive income - Profit for the year

2,532,146 2,150,133
1,784,959 1,784,969

Dividends received from associate

Company
2019
€

2018
€

4,256,568

4,256,568

Years ended 31 December
Opening cost and carrying amount
Disposal

(1,270,5841

Closing cost and carrying amount

2,985,984

4,256,568
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9.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Group and Company

Year ended 31 December
Opening and closing net book amount

2019
€€

2018

12,057

12,057

At 31 December
Cost

93,809

94,275

Provisions for impairmerrI

(81,7521

(82,218)

Net book amount

12,057

12,057

The Group's and company's financial assets at FVOCI, consisting primarily of unquoted equity
instruments, are fair valued annually. Fair value is mainly estimated by reference to the net asset
backing of the investee. The fair value of the Group's financial assets at FVOCI at the end of the
reporting period was deemed by the directors to approximate their carrying amount.

10.

Loans and advances
Group and Company

Year ended 31 December
Opening and closing cost and carrying amount

2019
€€
713,352

2018

713,352

Loans and advances forthe Group and the parent company represent redeemable preference shares
issued by a related party forming part of Mizzi Organisation that were allotted to the parent company
in the preceding financial year and settled through a dividend distribution. These preference shares
are redeemable on or before 31 December 2064 at the discretion of the issuers' Board of Directors
and subject to dividends at 3.0% per annum on a non-cumulative basis. ln the accounting records of

the issuers, such redeemable preference shares are classified as financial liabilities rather than
equity, as they meet the necessary criteria established by IAS 32 - "Financial lnstruments:
Presentation".

11.

lnventories
Group
2019
€
Goods for resale
Food and beverage
Others

2018
€

24,448
82,352

46,486
57,168
11,294

106,800

114,948

The cost of inventories recognised as expense is appropriately disclosed in Note 22 to the financial
statements.
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12.

Trade and other receivables
Group

Current
Trade receivables
Amounts owed by related parties
forming part of Mizzi Organisation
Amounts owed by other related
parties
Other receivables
lndirect taxation
Prepayments and accrued income

Company

20'19

2018

€,

€

458,884

2019
€

2018
€

916,112

15,981,474 5,914,723 13,031,499 4,755,799
60,337

53,984

32,442
7,766

58,047
106,679

91,761

78,755

16,632,664 7 ,128,300 f 3,031,488

4,755,799

Receivables above are disclosed net of credit loss allowances as follows:

Group
2019
€
Trade receivables

13.

182,431

Gompany
2018

€

2019
€

2018
€

140,568

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the statements of cash flows, the year-end cash and cash equivalents comprise
the following:

Group
2019

2019
€

2018
€

4,909,469 1,083,379 4,082,392

148,459

€
Cash at bank and in hand

14.

Gompany
2018
€

Share capital
Group and Company

2019
€€

2018

Authorised
500,000 ordinary shares of €2.329373 each

1,164,687

1,164,687

lssued and fully paid
320,600 ordinary shares of €2.329373 each

746,797

746,797
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15.

Revaluationreserves
Group

Surplus arising on fair valuation of:
Land and buildings of subsidiary
Land and buildings of associates

2019
€

2018

4,379,949

4,386,225
9,711,641

€

9,595,326

13,975,275

14,097,866

The movements in each category are analysed as follows
2019

2018

€

€

Land and buildings of subsidiary
At beginning of year
Transfer upon realisation through asset use
Movement in deferred tax liability determined on the
basis applicable to property disposals (Note 19)
Deferred income taxes on realisation through asset
use (Note 19)

4,396,225

At end of year

4,379,949

(19,693)

4,423,410
(19,693)

6,524

(24,385)

6,893

6,893
4,386,225

2019
€

2018

At beginning of year
Transfer upon realisation through asset use - share of
depreciation transfer, net of deferred tax

9,711,641

9,827,956

At end of year

9,595,326

€

Land and buildings of associates

(116,3f 5)

(1

16,315)

9,711,641

The tax impact included in the revaluation reserves as at 31 December 2019, relates to deferred
taxation arising on the surplus on fair valuation of land and buildings of subsidiary for an amount of
€'1,515,034 (2018: €1,528,451). The movements in the tax impact relating to this component of other
comprehensive income during the current and the preceding financial year is presented in the
respective table above.
The revaluation reserves are non-distributable
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16.

Other reserves
The only movements during 2019 andlor 2018 were recognised in the share of associates capital
reserve and are analysed as follows:

Group
2019
Share of associate's incentives and benefits
reserve
Capital reserves

Gompany
2018

2019

2018

€

€

€

€

1,034,694
1',,3,592

1,034,694
113,592

113,592
1,148,286 1J49296 1'13,592

113,592
113,592

Group
2019

2018

€

€

Share of associate's capital reserve
At beginning of year

186,076

Redemption of capitalised ground rents

(186,076)

At end of year
ln accordance with Articles 24B and 36 of the Business Promotion Act, transfers are effected by an
associate to an incentives and benefits reserve representing the net amount of profits subject to
income tax at a reduced rate of tax. Such profits are set aside for the exclusive purpose of financing
the upgrading projects within a subsidiary of the associate as approved by Malta Enterprise
Corporation in accordance with Article 6 of the Business Promotion Act. The incentives and benefits
reserve is not distributable and shall be retained for a period of eight years, which expire at the latest
on 31 December 2021, after which it can be distributed by means of a bonus issue.
The capital reserves are not considered by the directors of the respective entities to be available for
distribution.

17.

Lease liabilities

As at 31
December
2019

As at
1 January

€'000

2019
€'000

41,139

56,747

Motor vehicles

15,608

15,305

Total lease liabilities

56,747

72,052

Non-current
Motor vehicles

Current
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17.

Lease liabilities - continued
The movement in the carrying amount of these liabilities is analysed in the following table:

€
72,052

As at 1 January 2019
Payments
lnterest charge

(16,566)
1,261
56,747

The lease liabilities are attributable to arrangements with a related party forming part of Mizzi
Organisation.
The total cash outflows for leases in 2019 was €16,566. The contractual undiscounted cash flows
attributable to lease liabilities as at 31 December 2019 are analysed in Note 3.1(c).

18.

Borrowings
Group

Current
Bank loans

2019

2018

€

€

444,339

Company
2018

2019
€€

735,730

Loans from related party forming part of

Mizzi Organisation
Loans from associate

375,180
1,035,318

359,972
1

,01

3,830 1,035,318

1,854,837 2,109,532 1,035,318

1

,013,830

1,013,830

Non-current
Bank loans

5,113,138

5,557,472

122,169

716,575

Loans from related party forming part of

Mizzi Organisation

5,235,307
Total borrowings

6,274,047

7,090,144 8,383,579 1,035,318

1,013,830

Group
The Group's banking facilities as at 31 December 2019 amounted to €8,756,847 (2018: €9,393,201).
These facilities are mainly secured by:

(a)
(b)
(c)

General hypothec given by the subsidiary for an amount of €9,343,000 (2018: €9,343,000)
over assets, supported by a special hypothec over property for the same amount;
General hypothecary guarantee by a related party forming part of Mizzi Organisation for the
amount of €6,243,000 (2018:€6,243,000)over assets; and
Guarantees by a related party forming part of Mizzi Organisation for €3,100,000 (2018:
€3,100,000).
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18.

Borrowings - continued
The Group's bank borrowings are entirely, subject to variable rates of interest linked to Euribor. The
weighted average effective interest rates for bank borrowings at the end of the reporting period are
as follows:

Bank loans

2019

2018

2%

2o/o

Maturity of the Group's non-current bank borrowings
2019
€

Betweenland2years
Between2and5years
Over 5 years

2018
€

453,743
1,417,509
3,241,996

3,723,855

5,113,138

5,557 ,472

444,337
1,389,280

The loans from an associate are repayable on demand, unsecured and until 31 December 2018 it
was subject to a fixed interest rate of 3%.

The loans from related party forming part of Mizzi Organisation are unsecured, subject to weighted
average floating interest of 315% (2018:3.15%) per annum and repayable as follows:
2019

€

Within

l

year

Betweenland2years
Between2and5years

2018
€

375,180

359,972

'122,169

366,209
350,366

497,349

1,076,547

Company
The company's banking facilities as at 31 December 2019 amounted to €23,300 (2018: €23,300).
These facilities are mainly secured by guarantees by a related party forming part of Mizzi
Organisation.

19.

Deferred taxation
Group
Deferred income taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method and are
measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted by the end of the reporting
period. The principal tax rate used is 35o/o (2018:35%), with the exception of deferred taxation on
the fair valuation of non-depreciable property which is computed on the basis applicable to disposals
of immovable property i.e. tax effect of 10yo (2018: 10%) of the transfer value.
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19.

Deferred taxation - continued
The movement in the deferred tax is as follows
2018
€

2019

€
At beginning of year
Movement in deferred tax liability determined on the
basis applicable to property disposals:
Property, plant and equipment - recognised in other
comprehensive income (Note 15)
Realisation through asset use (Note 26)
Deferred income taxes on temporary differences
arising on depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 26)
Deferred income taxes attributable to unabsorbed
capital allowances (Note 26)

1,929,460

At end of year

'a,885,112

1,510,959

(6, 5241
(6, 8e3)

24,385

(30,931)

5,718

(6,8e3)

395,291

1,929,460

Allthe amounts disclosed in the table above, which have been referenced to Note 26, are recognised
in profit or loss. The other amounts referenced to Note 1 5, have been recognised directly in equity
in other comprehensive income.

The balance at 31 December represents:

Temporary differences arising on fair valuation of
property
Deferred taxation arising on transfer of property from Group
undertakings
Temporary differences arising on depreciation of
property, plant and equipment

2019
€

2018

1,235,509

1,248,926

279,525

279,525

370,078

401,009

1,885,112

€

1,929,460

The recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled principally
after more than twelve months.
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19.

Deferred taxation - continued
At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group had the following unutilised tax credits and temporary
differences:
Unrecognised

2019
€€

Unutilised tax credits arising from:
U nabsorbed capital allowances
Unabsorbed tax losses
Unabsorbed capital losses
Deductible temporary differences arising on property,
property, plant and equipment
Deductible temporary differences arising from credit loss
allowances in respect of trade and other receivables
Deductible temporary differences arising from credit loss
allowances in respect of financial assets at FVOCI
Taxable temporary differences arising on depreciation
of property, plant and equipment

203,645
26,917
10,701

2018

Recognised
2018

2019
€€

200,741

2,364
182,430

140,568

81,752

82,218

-

(1,057,365') (1,145,740)

The unrecognised deferred tax assets at the end of the reporting periods have not been reflected in
these financial statements due to the uncertainty of the realisation of the tax benefits. Whereas tax
losses have no expiry date, unabsorbed capital allowances are forfeited upon cessation of the trade.

Company

At 31 December 2019, the company had unutilised tax credits arising from unabsorbed capital
allowances amounting to €200,741 (2018: €200,741). At the end of the reporting period, the
company also had deductible temporary differences arising on provisions for impairment of financial
assets at FVOCI , amounting to €81 ,752 (2018: €81,752). The related deferred tax assets have not
been recognised in these financial statements due to the uncertainty of the realisation of the tax
benefits. Unabsorbed capital allowances are forfeited upon cessation of the trade.

20.

Trade and other payables

Group

Gompany

2019

2018

€

€

456,935
117,692

414,783
623,862

2019
€

2018
€

Current
Trade payables
Payables in respect of capital expenditure
Amounts owed to related parties forming
part of Mizzi Organisation
lndirect taxation
Accruals and deferred income

1,566,561

1,798,839

184,460

346,786

21,893
318,494

421,649

7,817

7,808

2,481,575 3,259,133 192,277

354,594
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21

Revenue
The Group's revenue, which is entirely derived from hotel operations in the local market.
All of the company's revenue consists of revenue recognised at a point in time. As at 31 December
2019, the company had no unfulfilled obligations arising from contracts with customers.

22.

Expenses by nature
Company

Group

Employee benefit expense (Note 23)
Cost of spares
Hotel food and beverage costs
Hotel operating supplies, services and related
expenses
Management fees and similar service charges
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 5)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 6)
Operating lease rentals payable and similar
charges:
- Motor vehicles
Other expenses

2019
€€

2018

7,917
4,819,285 7,917

7,782

20'19

2018

€

€

1,971,463
32,603
406,715

1,740,945

1,089,374
201,315

1,007,371

961,728

834,519

343,437

202,026

15,683

5,250

749,122

Totalcostofsalesandadministrativeexpenses 5,433,253

22,825

668,1 62

7,782

Operating profit/(loss) is stated after (crediting)/charging the following

Company

Group
2019

2018

€

€

2019
€€

2018

Movement in credfi loss allowances in respect
of trade receivables (included

in'Administrative expenses')
Bad debts

41,863

(2e,461\
16,845

Auditor's fees
Fees charged by the auditor for services rendered during the financial periods ended 31 December
2019 and 2018 relate to the following:

Group

Annual statutory audit
Tax advisory and compliance services
Other non-aud it services

2019
€

2018

9,550
1,430

9,550

€

24,023

1,650
23,273

35,003

34,473

The auditor's remuneration for the company attributable to the year ended 31 December 2019
amounted to €3,650 (2018: €3,650).
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23.

Employee benefit expense
Group

Wages and salaries
Outsourced wages and salaries
Social security costs

2019
€

2018
€

1,369,142
512,605
89,716

707,891

949,117
83,937

1,971,463

1,740,945

Average number of persons employed during the year:

Group
Direct
Administration

2019

2018

44

44

19

19

63

63

Further to the amounts disclosed in the table above, the Group's personnel related expenses for the

year ended 31 December 2019, included subcontracted payroll costs amounting €512,605 (2018:
€485,447).

24.

lnvestment and other related income
Group

Gross dividends receivable from
investments in subsidiaries
Gross dividends receivable from
investments in associate
Other gross dividends receivable
Gain on disposal of associate

Gompany

2019

2018

2019

2018

€

€

€

€

300,000
1,784,969
1,387

1,387

10,226,197

1,387
25.

1,784,969
1,387

1,397

1,387 12,312,553

1,786,356

Finance costs

Group
2019

Bank interest and charges
lnterest payable to related party
forming part of Mizzi Organisation
lnterest payable to associate
lnterest charges on lease liabilities

Gompany

€

2018
€

'177,288

197,409

31,676

25,838

2019
€,€
363

74,350

2018

79

74,350

1,261

210,225

297,597

363

74,429
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26.

Tax expense

Company

Group
2019
€
Current taxation:
Current tax expense
Adjustment recognised in financial period for
current tax of prior periods
Deferred taxation (Note 19)
Losses surrendered for Group purposes

1,',167,259

(37,8241

2018
€

485

2019
€

2018
€

1,143,428

485

6,193
394,116
(22,802)

1,',129,434 377,992

6,193

'1,143,428

6,678

The tax on the profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the basic
tax rate applicable as follows:

Gompany

Group
2019
€
Profit before tax
Tax on profit at 35%
Tax effect of:
Movement in temporary differences
arising on property, plant and equipment
and credit loss allowances in respect of
trade and other receivables
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
lncome exempt from tax or changed at
reduced tax
Share of results of associates
Utilisation of unabsorbed tax losses and
capital allowances brought forward from
previous years
Unabsorbed tax losses and capital
allowances claimed during the year
lncentives in respect of investment tax
credits
Over provision of tax in prior years
Tax charge in the accounts

2018

20f9

2018

€

€

E.

14,911,416 2,671,342',12,304,273

a

1,704,145

5,218,996 934,970 4,306,496 596,451

3,043
3,861

(3,101,334)
(500,862)

384,754
29,604

2,997
(3,165,965)

28,773

(624,739)

(465,3e7)

(414,739)
9,760
(504,030)

339

(e7,732)
6,193

1,129,434 377,992 1,143,428

6,193
6,678

The tax impact relating to components of other comprehensive income is presented in the tables
within Note 15 to the financial statements.
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27.

Directors'emoluments
Group
2018
€

2019
€

92,689

Salaries and other emoluments

28.

92,689

Gash (used in)/generated from operations
Reconciliation of operating profiV(loss) to cash generated from/(used in) operations

Group

Company

2019
€

1,562,614

Operating profit/(loss)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 5)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 6)
Movement in credit loss allowances in
respect of trade and other receivables
Changes in working capital:
lnventories
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Cash (used in)/generated from

961,728

1

,637

,746

2019
€€

(7,9'l7l

2018

(7

,782)

834,519

15,683

41,863
8,148
(9,546,2271
(321,388)

operations

2018
€

(29,461)
76,178

158,'187 (8,361,651

307,923

(3,47',,

|
)

(226,647)
280

(7,277,5791 2,985,092 (8,373,039) (234,149)

Net debt reconciliation

The principal movements in the Group's net debt related to cash flow movements and are disclosed
as part of the financing activities in the statement of cash flows.
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Gommitments
Capital commitments
Commitments for capital expenditure not provided for in these financial statements are as follows:

2019
€€
Authorised but not contracted

for

128,810

2018

305,000

Operating lease commitments - where a Group undertaking is fhe /essee

As at 31 December 2018, a Group undertaking has a motor vehicle leasing arrangement with a
related party, which is a company forming part of the Mizzi Organisation, whereby operating lease
rentals amounting to €11 ,347 are payable annually for the right to use assets owned by the related
party in the course of the respective company's operations.

With effect from 1 January 2019, the Group has recognised right-of-use assets in accordance with
the requirements of IFRS 16 (Note 6).

30.
(a)

Gontingencies
The company, together with its subsidiary and related parties forming part of Mizzi Organisation, is
jointly and severally liable in respect of guarantees given to secure the banking facilities ot Group
undertakings and related parties forming part of Mizzi Organisation up to a limit of €79,376,000 (2018:

€79,376,000) together with interest and charges thereon. These guarantees are supported by
general hypothecary guarantees for the amount of €81,482,000 (2018: €81,482,000) over the
company's assets.
The company's subsidiary, together with related parties forming part of Mizzi Organisation, are jointly

and severally liable in respect ot guarantees grven to secure the banking facilities of Group
undertakings and related parties forming part of Mizzi Organisation up to limits of €48,160,000 (20'18:

€48,160,000), together with interest and charges thereon. These guarantees are supported by
special hypothecary guarantees over the subsidiary's property for the amount of €29,000,000 (2018:
€29,000,000).

(b)

The company has undertaken to provide financial support to a subsidiary so as to enable the entity
to meet its liabilities as they fall due. The subsidiary's profit for the year ended 31 December 2019
amounted to €1,405,880 (2018: €1,100,463) and as at 31 December 2019 its current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by €548,006 (2018: €881,478).

(c)

At 31 December 2019, the subsidiary had contingent liabilities amounting to €5,610 (2018: €6,608)
in respect of guarantees business issued by the bank on its behalf in favour of third parties in the
ordinary course of business.

(d)

As at 31 December 2019, a subsidiary had objections filed with the Commissioner of lnland Revenue
over assessments raised relating to basis years 1990 and 1993 to 1995 amounting to €2,928, in
respect of which no provision has been made in these accounts.
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31.

Related party transactions
Consolidated Holdings Limited and its subsidiary form part of the Mizzi Organisation. The Mizzi
Organisation is not a legal entity and does not constitute a Group of companies within the meaning
of the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386). The Organisation is a conglomerate of companies
principally comprising Consolidated Holdings Limited and Mizzi Organisation Limited, together with
all their respective subsidiaries, The General Soft Drinks Company Limited and GSD Marketing
Limited.

The entities constituting the Mizzi Organisation are ultimately fully owned by Daragon Limited,
Demoncada Holdings Limited, Demoncada Limited, lnvestors Limited and Maurice Mizzi. Members
of the Mizzi family in turn ultimately own and control the above mentioned companies.
Accordingly, the members of the Mizzi family, the shareholder companies mentioned above, all
entities owned or controlled by the members of the Mizzi family and the shareholder companies, the
associates of entities comprising the Organisation and the Organisation entities' key management
personnel are the principal related parties of the entities forming part of the Mizzi Organisation.
Trading transactions with these related parties would typically include interest charges, management
fees, service charges and other such items which are normally encountered in a Group context.

Group
ln the ordinary course of their operations, Group undertakings sell services to companies forming
part of the Organisation for trading purposes and also purchase goods and services from these
companies.

ln the opinion of the directors, disclosure of related party transactions, which are generally carried
out on commercial terms and conditions, is only necessary when the transactions effected have a
material impact on the operating results and financial position of the Group. The aggregate invoiced
amounts in respect of a considerable number of transaction types carried out with related parties are
not considered material and accordingly they do not have a significant effect on these financial
statements.

Except for transactions disclosed or referred to previously, the following significant operating
transactions, which were carried out principally with related parties forming part of Mizzi Organisation,
have a material effect on the operating results and financial position of the Group:

2019
€€

2018

Purchases of goods and services
Purchases of goods held for resale and services

191,868

55,604

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

463,956

503,524

Management fees payable

182,415

178,590
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31.

Related party transactions - continued
The transactions disclosed above were carried out on commercial terms. Year-end balances with

related parties, arising principally from the transactions referred to previously, are disclosed in
Notes 12, 18 and 20 to these financial statements. Such balances are repayable on demand,
unsecured and interest free unless disclosed othenvise in the respective notes.

The Group's expenditure reflected in profit or loss comprises amounts recharged from related parties
forming part of Mizzi Organisation of €118,190 (2018:€204,764).

Key management personnel comprise the directors of the company and of the other Group
undertaking. Key management personnel compensation, consisting of directors' remuneration as
disclosed in Note 27 , has been recharged by a related party forming part of Mizzi Organisation.
Amounts owed to related parties as at 31 December 2019 of €73,956 (2018:€205,139) are subject
to interest at 3.6% (2018: 3.6%). lnterest payable to related parties is disclosed in Note 25.

Company
The company's expenditure reflected in profit or loss comprises amounts recharged from a related
party forming part of Mizzi Organisation of €34,583 (2018: €6,305).

32.

Events after the reporting date
With effect from March 2020 onwards, the outbreak of COVID-19 impacted negatively a number of
operations of companres wrthin the Mizzi Organisation. Whilst some sectors and certaln companies
were hit worse than others, Group management invested substantial efforts to safeguard as many
jobs as possible and ensure survival of all the respective companies within the Organisation. The
hospitality industry was brought to a standstill as a result of the airport closure and other measures
introduced by Government. The hotel lost all its principal source of income for a period of around 4
months. On a positive note, the hotel managed to remain operative up to a certain extent, having
been awarded contracts to provide alternative accommodation to front liners assisting patients
infected by the vlrus.

All companies forming part of the Organisation embarked on a cost-cutting exercise in areas such
as payroll costs, direct departmental costs together with selling and administrative expenses.
Particular emphasis has also been placed on the credit control function so as to ensure cash receipts
from customers and debtors are flowing in regularly and in a sustained manner in order to meet cash
outflows. Revised favourable credit term arrangements were negotiated with a number of suppliers,
though substantially no concessions were granted to the Organisation by its property lessors.

On a group wide basis, the Mizzi Organisation took a number of initiatives to ensure effective
management of available liquidity to fund the requirements of all operations impacted by COVID-19.

The Organisation managed to secure favourable arrangements with banks in relation to the
postponement of bank loan repayments and with suppliers in relation to the postponement of major
capital expenditure payments. A number of Organisation companies have taken advantage of
available Government aid, such as the deferral of VAT and tax payments, wage supplement schemes
and quarantine leave supplements. The Organisation also encouraged utilisation of vacation leave
to decrease accruals in this regard.
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32.

Events after the reporting date - continued

ln view of the current situation brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic, the Organisation has
prepared detailed financial and cash flow projections covering all its business lines for the financial
years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021, based on historical financial information registered to
date during 2020 and forecasts, factoring in the disorder created by the COVID-19 pandemic. These
projections have been compiled as part of the preparation of a revised business plan. The projections
are based on pessimistic assumptions for the base case scenario, reflecting the anticipated dismal
performance during 2020 of specific Organisation business lines referred to above, with a gradual
recovery in performance for the automotive, hotel, retail and catering businesses throughout 202'1.
The projected 2021financial results for the core businesses within the Organisation are assumed to
be significantly lower when compared to 2019 financial results. The projections also contemplate a
stressed case scenario with sever business conditions throughout 2021. The cash flow projections
take into account the financial support secured by the Organisation under the COVID-19 guarantee
scheme managed by the Malta Development Bank. The sanction letters in the name of Mizzi
Organisation Limited for the secured additionalfacilities amounting lo€12 million in aggregate, have
been approved and issued by the respective banks. These funds will assist the Organisation in
honouring committed capital expenditure and commitments with trade creditors.
The forecastfor 2020 contemplates the projected existence of a significant liquidity buffer at the end
of the year notwithstanding the expected adverse financial results, whilst positive cash flow
generation is anticipated for 2021. The directors are further encouraged that as at the date of
approval of these financial statements, all the business units of the Group are back in business and
fully operationalwithin the restrictions and guidelines issued by the Health Authorities. Furthermore,

as business started to pick up gradually during the recent months, it was noted that

actual

performance across all business segments has been better than that forecasted within the 2020
projection.

Assuming stressed conditions are experienced throughout2021, such that the projected financial
results from the automotive business, the hotel, the retail and catering businesses are subdued in
line with 2020 performance, whilst simultaneously projected property sales do not materialise, the
Organisation would still be in a position to fund its group wide operations taking cognisance of liquidity
available.

The Boards of Directors of Mizzi Organisation Limited and of the companies constituting the Mizzi
Organisation feel confident that with the measures taken, the secured financing arrangements and
the diversity of the Organisation's business lines, the companies within the Organisation shall
overcome the disruptions brought about by this pandemic. The directors consider the Organisation
and all Organisation companies to be a going concern. Hence the going concern assumption in the
preparation of these financial statements is considered appropriate and there are no material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt about the ability of the Organisation and its companies
to continue operating as a going concern.

33.

Statutoryinformation
Consolidated Holdings Limited is a limited liability company and is incorporated in Malta
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